No. 90996-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

YES FOR EARLY SUCCESS, a non-profit corporation, LAURA CHANDLER, and BARBARA FLYE

Petitioners,

vs.

CITY OF SEATTLE and KING COUNTY,

Respondents.

72322-7

PETITION FOR REVIEW

FACTS

¶4 In March 2014, Yes For Early Success filed a petition for City of Seattle Initiative Measure Number 107 (I-107), "An Act relating to early learning and child care." Among other things, the initiative would establish a \$15 minimum wage for child care teachers and staff, establish a City policy limiting child care costs to no more than 10 percent of income, prohibit violent felons from providing professional [*3] child care, and require enhanced training for child care teachers and staff. Sponsors eventually submitted sufficient signatures to present I-107 to the Seattle City Council in accordance with the City Charter.

¶5 Following a session on June 23, 2014, including public comment, the Council rejected I-107 and adopted Seattle Ordinance 124509, submitting to voters what the Council referred to as an "alternative measure dealing with the same subject." Ordinance 124509 proposed a preschool plan that addressed, among other things, early learning funding, teacher compensation, teacher certification and training, affordability, and an oversight committee.

¶6 The City Charter does not provide for initiatives directly to the people. All initiatives must be presented first to the Council. Seattle City Charter, Article IV, Section 1B. Under Article IV, Section 1C of the City Charter, the Council

may enact, or reject, any initiative bill or measure, but shall not amend or modify the same. It may, however, after rejection of any initiative bill or measure, propose and pass a different one dealing with the same subject.

If the Council has rejected an initiative measure and

subject,

it shall be submitted [*4] at the same election with the initiative measure and the vote of the qualified electors also taken for and against the same, and if both such measures be approved by a majority vote, if they be conflicting in any particular, then the one receiving the highest number of affirmative votes shall thereby be adopted, and the other shall be considered rejected.

Seattle City Charter Article IV, Section 1G.

¶7 The parties disputed the proper ballot title for the alternative measures. Yes For Early Success asserted that under the City Charter, both measures should be submitted independently to the voters for a majority vote. The City maintained that RCW_29A.36.050(3) specified the proper format when the legislative body has proposed an alternative measure to an initiative.

¶8 The parties initiated three separate actions. Yes For Early Success raised additional claims, including alleged constitutional violations, claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and violations of the Open Public Meetings Act of 1971 (OPMA), chapter 42.30 RCW.

¶9 The trial court consolidated the three actions for consideration at a hearing on August 15, 2014. Following argument, the court entered an order and memorandum opinion concluding that I-107 and Ordinance 124509 both dealt with the same subject, that the [*5] general laws of Washington controlled over any conflicting provisions of the City's Charter, and that RCW 29A.36.071 requires the ballot title for an initiative submitted to the local legislative body to conform to the requirements of RCW 29A.72.050(3) when the legislative body has rejected an initiative and proposed an alternative measure addressing the same subject. The court directed the City and King County to use the form of joint ballot title specified in RCW 29A.72.050(3) for I-107 and Ordinance 124509 and dismissed Yes For Early Success's remaining claims with prejudice.

¶10 The parties have requested expedited consideration to permit the timely preparation of the November 4, 2014 ballot.

[2, 3] ¶11 An appellate court reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo. State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 449, 69 P.3d 318 (2003). The goal of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. Burns v. City of Seattle, 161 Wn.2d 129, 140, 164 P.3d 475 (2007). This examination necessarily begins with an analysis of the statute's plain language, which "is to be discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." State v. Engel, 166 Wn.2d 572, 578, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009). If, upon review, the statute's plain meaning is unambiguous, the court's inquiry is at an end. [*6] State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007).

¶12 Yes For Early Success contends that it is "clear" that the legislature did not intend to change local initiative law when it "streamlined" the ballot title statutes by having the local ballot title statute refer to <u>RCW 29A.72.050</u>. The plain language of <u>RCW 29A.36.071</u> and <u>RCW 29A.72.050</u> belies this claim.

[4] ¶13 Seattle is a charter city authorized by the Washington Constitution. Article XI, section 10 provides that "cities or towns heretofore or hereafter organized, and all charters thereof framed or adopted by authority of this Constitution shall be subject to and controlled by general laws." Consequently, "a general statute enacted by the legislature supersedes or modifies provisions of a city charter to the extent that they are in conflict." Oakwood Co. v. Tacoma Mausoleum Ass'n, 22 Wn.2d 692, 695, 157 P.2d 595, adhered to on reh'g, 22 Wn.2d 692, 161 P.2d 193 (1945); see also Mosebar v. Moore, 41 Wn.2d 216, 220, 248 P.2d 385 (1952); Neils v. City of Seattle, 185 Wash. 269, 53 P.2d 848 (1936).

[5, 6] ¶14 Yes For Early Success does not dispute that *RCW 29A.36.071* is a general statute that specifies the ballot title format for local measures "submitted to the voters of a local government." *RCW 29A.36.071(1)(c)* unambiguously provides, with exceptions not relevant here, that "the ballot title must conform with the requirements and be displayed substantially as provided under *RCW 29A.72.050*." Because *RCW 29A.36.071* expressly incorporates by reference the ballot title provisions of *RCW 29A.72.050*, "the precepts and

terms to which reference is made are to be considered and treated [*7] as if they were incorporated into and made a part of the referring act, just as completely as if they had been explicitly written therein." <u>Knowles v. Holly</u>, 82 Wn.2d 694, 700-01, 513 P.2d 18 (1973).

[7] ¶15 RCW 29A.72.050 is drafted solely in terms of the state "legislature." See also RCW 29A.72.270. Consequently, to accord any meaning to the mandate in RCW 29A.36.071 to follow the ballot form in RCW 29A.72.050, we must construe the term "legislature" in RCW 29A.72.050 to encompass the legislative authority or body of the "local government" as that term is used in RCW 29A.36.071. See Mukilteo Citizens for Simple Gov't v. City of Mukilteo, 174 Wn.2d 41, 49 n.4, 272 P.3d 227 (2012) (Pursuant to RCW 29A.36.071(1), the "ballot title for a local measure, including referenda and any other question submitted to the voters" must conform with the requirements of RCW 29A.72.050).

[8] ¶16 <u>RCW 29A.72.050(3)</u> specifies the ballot format when there is an initiative to the legislative body for which the legislative body "has proposed an alternative." That is the situation here.

¶17 Under the City Charter, initiatives are submitted to the Council, which may adopt the initiative and enact it into law, reject the initiative and present it to the electorate for a vote, or reject the initiative and propose an alternative and submit both measures for a vote. In adopting Ordinance 124509, the Council expressly rejected I-107 and adopted "an alternative measure dealing with the same subject as Initiative 107." [*8] In such circumstances, *RCW 29A.72.050(3)* requires the following ballot format:

(3) For an initiative to the legislature for which the legislature has proposed an alternative, the ballot title must be displayed on the ballot substantially as follows:

"Initiative Measure Nos. ... and ... B concern (statement of subject).

Initiative Measure No. ... would (concise description).

As an alternative, the legislature has proposed Initiative Measure No. ... B, which would (concise description).

into law?	
Yes	
No	
2. Regardless of whether you voted yes or no above, if one of these measures is enacted, which one should it be?	
Measure No	

or

1. Chould either of these measures be engeted

¶18 Yes For Early Success maintains that the ballot title statutes and the City Charter can be harmonized by allowing the City to "choose" the ballot title format in <u>RCW 29A.72.050</u> that "presents I-107 to the voters for an up-or-down majority vote." Yes For Early Success concludes that the City was therefore required to submit both I-107 and Ordinance 124509 to the electorate using the single-measure format of <u>RCW 29A.72.050(2)</u>, the only provision of <u>RCW 29A.72.050</u> permitting an independent majority vote.

Measure No. "

¶19 Yes For Early Success's arguments [*9] would require us to ignore the joint ballot format in <u>RCW 29A.72.050(3)</u> for the analogous situation when the "legislature has proposed an alternative" to an initiative, while imposing the format in <u>RCW 29A.72.050(2)</u>, which expressly applies to "an initiative to the legislature for which the legislature has *not* proposed an alternative." Yes For Early Success has not cited any relevant authority that would permit us to rewrite the clear language of a statute in the guise of harmonizing the statute with the City Charter. See <u>Mukilteo Citizens v. City of Mukilteo, 174 Wn.2d at 49</u> (noting that in a single initiative case, <u>RCW 29A.72.050(2)</u> "provides a ballot title form that local initiatives are to follow").

[9] ¶20 Yes For Early Success's reliance on <u>RCW</u> <u>29A.36.071(3)</u> is also misplaced. <u>RCW 29A.36.071(3)</u> provides that the ballot title provisions of <u>subsection</u> (1) do not apply "if another provision of law specifies the ballot title for a specific type of ballot question or proposition." We agree with the City that when read in context, "another provision of law" refers to statutes

that designate the specific ballot format in a specific context, such as those expressly referred to in <u>subsection (1)</u>. Construing <u>RCW 29A.36.071(3)</u> to excuse compliance with ballot title requirements merely because a charter contains general provisions governing initiatives would effectively render [*10] <u>RCW 29A.36.071(1)</u> meaningless.

¶21 The trial court did not err in directing the City and King County to use the two-part joint ballot format in *RCW* 29A.72.050(3).

¶22 Yes For Early Success contends that the trial court erred when it granted the City injunctive relief beyond the scope permitted under CR 60(b). But the trial court's decision was based on three consolidated actions involving Yes For Early Success's challenge to the ballot title. Yes For Early Success has failed to demonstrate that the trial court erred in granting injunctive relief given the nature and scope of the three consolidated actions.

¶23 Yes For Early Success contends that the trial court erred in "upholding" the City's determination that I-107 and Ordinance 124509 conflict in certain particulars. But the trial court entered no such decision. To resolve the ballot dispute before it, the trial court determined only that the Council rejected I-107 and proposed an alternative measure on the same subject. No more was required.

¶24 Yes For Early Success maintains that the Council's declaration in Resolution 31530 that I-107 and Ordinance 124509 "conflict in several particulars" should be declared void as an ultra vires act because a court of law must determine—after an election—whether [*11] the measures "be conflicting in any particular." Seattle City Charter Article IV, Section 1G. Yes For Early Success claims that the declaration undermined its campaign by changing the nature of the debate and discouraging I-107 endorsements.

¶25 The Council's recognition of the existence of some conflict was an inherent part of its decision to develop an "alternative" measure instead of enacting I-107. The decision to reject I-107 and propose an alternative measure, which Yes For Early Success does not challenge, necessarily resulted in the submission

of the measures to voters in the format that <u>RCW</u> <u>29A.72.050(3)</u> mandates. At that point, the City Charter provisions addressing the postelection resolution of conflicts became irrelevant. Yes For Early Success fails to establish any basis for declaring the Council's statement void.

¶26 Yes For Early Success contends that the trial court erred in dismissing its claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and its claim for violation of OPMA. Yes For Early Success has neither identified the nature of its federal claims nor explained how they survived the trial court's resolution of the ballot title dispute.

¶27 In support of its OPMA claim, Yes For Early Success alleges that the City made its determination that I-107 and [*12] Ordinance 124509 conflict during an improper executive session. The allegation of an OPMA violation clearly rests on Yes For Early Success's assumption that the City Charter provisions govern the ballot format. As already indicated, those provisions became irrelevant once the Council rejected I-107 and submitted an alternative measure on the same subject. No conflict is possible since only one version may be approved by the voters. The trial court did not err in dismissing the <u>section 1983</u> and OPMA claims.

¶28 Finally, Yes For Early Success asserts that the joint ballot format deprives the voters of various constitutional rights, including their voting and initiative rights, and that the ballot format will create future uncertainty. Although the precise nature of the claimed errors is unclear, they appear to involve primarily rights that allegedly arise out of the City Charter that the Washington Constitution authorized. But the Constitution expressly provides that city charters are subject to general laws that may alter or supersede charter provisions without violating the Constitution. Yes For Early Success fails to identify any reversible error.

¶29 Affirmed.

Appelwick and Trickey, JJ., concur.

Reconsideration denied October 1, 2014.

References

Washington [*13] Rules of Court Annotated (LexisNexis ed.) Annotated Revised Code of Washington by LexisNexis

The Court of Appeals of the State of Washington

RICHARD D. JOHNSON, Court Administrator/Clerk DIVISION I One Union Square 600 University Street Seattle, WA 98101-4170 (206) 464-7750 TDD: (206) 587-5505

October 1, 2014

Claire Elizabeth Tonry Smith & Lowney PLLC 2317 E John St Seattle, WA, 98112-5412 clairet@igc.org Eric D. 'Knoll' Lowney Smith & Lowney PLLC 2317 E John St Seattle, WA, 98112-5412 knoll@igc.org

Gary T Smith
Seattle City Attorneys Office
PO Box 94769
Seattle, WA, 98124-4769
gary.smith@seattle.gov

Paul J. Lawrence
Pacifica Law Group LLP
1191 2nd Ave Ste 2100
Seattle, WA, 98101-2945
paul.lawrence@pacificalawgroup.com

Gregory J Wong
Pacifica Law Group LLP
1191 2nd Ave Ste 2100
Seattle, WA, 98101-2945
greg.wong@pacificalawgroup.com

John Benjamin Kerr Schochet Seattle City Attorney's Office PO Box 94769 Seattle, WA, 98124-4769 john.schochet@seattle.gov

Janine Elizabeth Joly
Office of the Prosecuting Attorney
900 King County Administration Bldg
500 4th Ave
Seattle, WA, 98104-2337
janine.joly@kingcounty.gov

Taki V Flevaris
Pacifica Law Group LLP
1191 2nd Ave Ste 2100
Seattle, WA, 98101-2945
taki.flevaris@pacificalawgroup.com

CASE #: 72322-7-1

Yes for Early Success et al, Petitioners v. Seattle & King County, Respondent's

Counsel:

Enclosed please find a copy of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration entered in the above case.

Page 2 of 2 - 72322-7

Within 30 days after the order is filed, the opinion of the Court of Appeals will become final unless, in accordance with RAP 13.4, counsel files a petition for review in this court. The content of a petition should contain a "direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in [RAP 13.4](b), with argument." RAP 13.4(c)(7).

In the event a petition for review is filed, opposing counsel may file with the Clerk of the Supreme Court an answer to the petition within 30 days after the petition is served.

Sincerely,

Richard D. Johnson

Court Administrator/Clerk

ssd

Enclosure

c: The Reporter of Decisions.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

IN THE MATTER OF THE BALLOT TITLE) APPEAL OF CITY OF SEATTLE INITIATIVES 107-110,)) No. 72322-7-I)					
and)	ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION					
IN THE MATTER OF THE BALLOT TITLE (APPEAL OF CITY OF SEATTLE PROPOSITION NO. 1B (ORDINANCE 124509),						
and						
YES FOR EARLY SUCCESS, a non-profit corporation, LAURA CHANDLER, and BARBARA FLYE,						
Appellants,						
v.)						
CITY OF SEATTLE and KING COUNTY,						
Respondents.	, 					

Appellants, Yes for Early Success, Laura Chandler, and Barbara Flye, have filed a motion for reconsideration of the opinion filed on September 2, 2014, and the court has determined that said motion should be denied. Now, therefore, it is hereby

が出る。	ORDERED that appellants' motion for reconsideration is denied DONE this 15+ day of October, 2014.
ा १ १ १ १	DONE this 1 day of Occoper, 2014.

FOR THE COURT:

Beker



Please Return Your Initiative or Contact Us At:
Yes for Early Success
PO Box 30005, Seattle, WA 98113
206.322.3010 | yes4earlysuccess@gmail.com | www.yesforearlysuccess.com

INITIATIVE 107

INITIATIVE PETITION FOR SUBMISSION TO THE SEATTLE CITY COUNCIL. To the City Council of The City of Seattle:

We, the undersigned registered voters of The City of Seattle, State of Washington, propose and ask for the enactment as an ordinance of the measure known as Initiative Measure No. 107. entitled:

THE CITY OF SEATTLE INITIATIVE MEASURE NUMBER 107 CONCERNS SUPPORT AND STANDARDS FOR EARLY LEARNING AND CHILD CARE.

If enacted, the measure would establish a \$15 minimum wage for childcare workers (phased in over three years for employers with under 250 employees); seek to reduce childcare costs to 10% or less of family income; prohibit violent felons from providing professional childcare; require enhanced training and certification through a training institute; create a workforce board and establish a fund to help providers meet standards; and hire an organization to facilitate communication between the City and childcare workers.

Should this measure be enacted into law?

Yes

No

A full, true and correct copy of which is included herein, and we petition the Council to enact said measure as an ordinance; and, if not enacted within forty-five (45) days from the time of receipt thereof by the City Council, then to be submitted to the qualified electors of The City of Seattle for approval or rejection at the next regular election or at a special election in accordance with Article IV, Section 1 of the City Charter; and each of us for himself or herself says: I have personally signed this petition; I am a registered voter of The City of Seattle, State of Washington, and my residence address is correctly stated.

WARNING: "Ordinance 94289 provides as follows: "Section 1. It is unlawful for any person: 1. To sign or decline to sign any petition for a City initiative, referendum, or Charter amendment, in exchange for any consideration or gratuity or promise thereof; or 2. To give or offer any consideration or gratuity to anyone to induce him or her to sign or not to sign a petition for a City initiative, referendum, or Charter amendment; or 3. To interfere with or attempt to interfere with the right of any voter to sign or not to sign a petition for a City initiative, referendum, or Charter amendment by threat, intimidation or any other corrupt means or practice; or 4. To sign a petition for a City initiative, referendum, or Charter amendment with any other than his or her true name, or to knowingly sign more than one (1) petition for the same initiative, referendum or Charter amendment measure, or to sign any such petition knowing that he or she is not a registered voter of The City of Seattle." The provisions of this ordinance shall be printed as a warning on every petition for a City initiative, referendum, or Charter amendment. "Section 2. Any person violating any of the provisions of this ordinance shall upon conviction thereof be punishable by a fine of not more than Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) or by imprisonment in the City Jail for a period not to exceed six (6) months, or by both such fine and imprisonment.

(* Only Registered Seattle Voters Can Sign This Petition *)

Petitioner's Signature	Petitioner's Printed Name	Residence Address Street and Number	Date Signed	
1				
3				
5				
7				
9				

AN ACT Relating to early learning and child care BE IT ENACTED BY THE PEOPLE OF THE CITY OF SEATTLE:

PARTI INTENT.

NEW SECTION: Sec. 101.

It is the intent of the People of Seattle to increase the quality, affordability, and safety of the City's early education and child care system through; (a) establishing a \$15 minimum wage for child care teachers and staff, with support for small businesses; (b) establishing city policy that families should pay no more than ten percent of family income on child care; (c) prohibiting violent felons from being child care teachers and staff, even in a non-licensed facility; (d) requiring enhanced training for child care teachers and staff, to be provided through a training partnership between the City and workers, and (e) giving child care teachers and staff a formal role in establishing work force standards for their profession

PART II

ESTABLISHING A \$15 MINIMUM WAGE FOR CHILD CARE TEACHERS AND STAFF, WITH SUPPORT FOR SMALL BUSINESS.

NEW SECTION: Sec. 201.

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