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

voted on by the people; or 3) it may reject the initiative and propose a 

different measure on the same subject as an alternative and both measures 

are placed on the ballot together. Charter, art. IV, §§ 1.B, 1.C. This is 

analogous to a state initiative to the legislature, where, upon being 

presented an initiative, the legislature has the option to 1) adopt the 

initiative as law; 2) adopt the initiative and refer it to a vote; 3) reject the 

initiative in which case the initiative is sent to the people for a vote; or 4) 

reject the initiative and propose a different one dealing with the same 

subject, in which case both alternatives go to the people. Canst. art. II, § 

1. Here, the City Council chose to reject 1-107 and propose an alternative 

measure. Under the statutory scheme, then, the required form of ballot 

title is the joint form for "an initiative to the legislature for which the 

legislature has proposed an alternative." RCW 29A.72.050(3). 

Petitioners' arguments against application of the mandatory local 

ballot title statute are without merit. First, Petitioners' argument that the 

Seattle Charter mandates the use of the single-measure format of RCW 

29A.72.050(2) is simply wrong. That format applies only for "an 

initiative to the people, or for an initiative to the legislature for which the 

legislature has not proposed an alternative". RCW 29A.72.050(2). Under 

the Seattle Charter, there is no ability to bring an initiative directly to the 

people. And there is no question the City Council put forth an alternative 
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measure to I-1 07. The single-measure format does not apply. Petitioners 

cite no relevant authority that would permit rewriting the unambiguous 

language of RCW 29A.72.050 in the guise of "harmonizing" the statute 

with the Seattle Charter. Regardless, to the extent the initiative process in 

the Seattle Charter may be read to allow for separate votes on the two 

alternatives, the plain language of RCW 29A.72.050(3) controls. 

Second, Petitioners cite no authority or legislative history for their 

assertion that RCW 29A.36.071 is simply "ministerial." The citation to 

RCW 29.79.320 (1965) is not relevant to RCW 29A.36.071, in which the 

legislature mandates that local ballot measures follow the state form. 

Indeed, if anything can be gleaned from the legislative history it is that the 

legislature intended the local ballot title statute to apply as written. In 

1993, the legislature established mandatory ballot titles for state and local 

referenda. Laws of 1993, ch. 256, § 7. In 2000, the legislature extended 

the mandatory ballot titles to all local measures. Laws of 2000, ch. 197, § 

12. In 2003, the legislature enacted comprehensive election reform (an 

almost 200 page bill), and purposefully reenacted the law establishing 

mandatory local ballot titles. Laws of 2003, ch. 111, § 907, 1806. If the 

legislature had intended for the local ballot title statute to have no 

substantive effect, it would not have reenacted it in 2003. Yet that is what 

the legislature chose to do. 
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Third, Petitioners' suggestion that RCW 29A.36.071 (3), which 

provides that the ballot title forms do "not apply if another provision of 

law specifies the ballot title for a specific type of ballot question or 

proposition," should apply here likewise is incorrect. When read as a 

whole, "another provision of law" references other state laws that 

designate the specific ballot format in a specific context such as RCW 

29A.36.21 0(2) ("The ballot proposition authorizing a taxing district to 

impose a permanent regular tax levy under RCW 84.52.069 must contain 

in substance the following ... ")and RCW 35.61.030(3) ("The proposition 

shall include the following terms ... "). Any other reading would 

effectively render RCW 29A.36.071(1) meaningless and create a loophole 

exempting all local initiatives from state regulation. 

Fourth, Petitioners' argument that the Court of Appeals decision 

prevents voters from "overcom[ing] legislative obstacles by placing 

legislation on the ballot for approval or rejection" ignores the initiative 

process available under the Seattle Charter. Again, the Seattle Charter 

provides no mechanism for an initiative directly to the people. Seattle 

voters have never had the right to place legislation directly on the ballot 

without City Council review. 

Fifth, the fact that Seattle's initiative process is a valid exercise of 

the City's authority does not render that process immune from the general 
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laws. Hartig v. Seattle, 53 Wash. 432, 102 P. 408 (1909), does not stand 

for the proposition that Seattle's initiative and referendum powers are 

exempt from the constitution's mandate that city charters shall be subject 

to and controlled by general laws. Rather, this Court upheld the initiative 

and referendum amendment to the Seattle Charter, holding that it did not 

conflict with a general law vesting the legislative powers of cities in a 

mayor and city council. The Hartig Court simply found no conflict with 

the then-existing general laws. 

Finally, Petitioners' preemption argument is without merit. The 

only preemption case Petitioners cite, Brown v. City of Yakima, 116 

Wn.2d 556, 807 P.2d 353 (1991), is wholly inapposite. Brown addressed 

the preemption of local laws passed under the broad police powers granted 

to cities in Article XI, § 11. The City's exercise of its police powers is not 

at issue in this case. Preemption is not relevant. 

In sum, the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with a long line 

of cases from this Court and does not present any significant questions of 

law under the state constitution that merit review. 

B. Use of the joint ballot title does not change the initiative 
right under the Seattle Charter, or otherwise raise a 
reviewable issue of public interest. 

The initiative right under the Seattle Charter is as viable today as it 

has been historically. As described above, the Seattle Charter provides for 

13 



only initiatives to the City Council. Use of the joint ballot title form does 

nothing to alter that initiative right. The joint ballot title simply puts the 

initiative and its legislative alternative on the ballot together so voters can 

express their preference at the ballot box. 9 This statutory mandate to 

discern voter intent at the time of voting fails to raise a substantial issue of 

public interest that merits review. And, of course, there is nothing to 

prevent citizens from amending the Seattle Charter to allow for initiatives 

directly to the people. 

Further, Petitioners' claim that employing the joint ballot title form 

leaves no means to determine the outcome of the initiative election or fails 

to determine a majority is incorrect. 10 The joint ballot title form ensures 

majority approval because voters are asked, regardless of how they vote 

on whether either measure should be enacted, which of the two measures 

they prefer. The measure receiving the most votes in answer to this 

question achieves a majority vote. This is the exact same procedure 

employed for state legislative alternatives to initiatives. Petitioners fail to 

articulate why this identical procedure is unconstitutional when applied to 

9 This is entirely consistent with the Seattle Charter. Where, as here, the two measures 
conflict "in any particular," the Seattle Charter mandates that only one measure will be 
adopted-the measure "receiving the highest number of affirmative votes"-and the 
other rejected. Charter, art. IV,§ l.G. The joint ballot title form provided by RCW 
29A.72.050(3) makes it clear to voters that only one measure will be adopted and thus 
allows voters to express their preference at the ballot box. The measure with the higher 
number of affirmative votes prevails. 
10 Petitioners cite their "unrebutted expert," even though there was no expert testimony in 
this case. Further, Petitioners' expert is simply their own political polling firm. App. 37. 
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local legislative alternatives. And one need only consult the results of the 

most recent election to see how this procedure is borne out in practice: 68 

percent voted for passage of either 1A or 1B; 69 percent then voted for 1B 

over 1A. The voters clearly expressed their preference. 

C. Petitioners' constitutional rights claims do not merit 
review. 

Petitioners have not demonstrated that employing the joint ballot 

title form under RCW 29A.72.050(3) deprives voters of their 

constitutional rights and their conclusory allegations that the joint form of 

ballot title imposes a "severe restriction" on petitioning, speech, and 

voting rights are contradicted by the facts and the law. In fact, Petitioners 

have failed to demonstrate any burden on First and Fourteenth 

Amendment rights, let alone a burden severe enough to warrant strict 

scrutiny. See Burdick v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428, 434 (1992) (degree of 

scrutiny of state election laws depends upon "the extent to which a 

challenged regulation burdens First and Fourteenth Amendment rights"). 

Finding no Washington law in support of their position, Petitioners cite a 

non-binding opinion regarding the constitutionality under Massachusetts 

law of a legislative substitute for an initiative. See Buckley v. Sec 'y of 

Commonwealth, 371 Mass. 195, 355 N.E.2d 806 (1976). Buckley is 

concerned with initiatives directly to the people under the constitution of 
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Massachusetts and examines whether the particular legislative substitute 

proposed was sufficiently related to the subject matter of the people's 

initiative to serve as an "alternative." !d. at 200. Buckley is inapposite. 

Further, Petitioners' political speech arguments do not present a 

significant constitutional question because the First Amendment is not 

implicated by laws that determine the process by which legislation is 

enacted. Initiative & Referendum Inst. v. Walker, 450 F .3d I 082, I 098-

II 0 I (I Oth Cir. 2006) (holding state law requirement that initiative 

measures that relate to wildlife management must receive a two-thirds 

supermajority vote does not implicate the First Amendment). "Although 

the First Amendment protects political speech incident to an initiative 

campaign, it does not protect the right to make law, by initiative or 

otherwise." !d. at I 099. "The distinction is between laws that regulate or 

restrict the communicative conduct of persons advocating a position in a 

referendum, which warrant strict scrutiny, and laws that determine the 

process by which legislation is enacted, which do not." !d.; see also Save 

Palisade FruitLands v. Todd, 279 F .3d I204, I2II (I Oth Cir. 2002) 

(holding that "the right to free speech and the right to vote are not 

implicated by the state's creation of an initiative procedure, but only by 

the state's attempts to regulate speech associated with an initiative 

procedure, which is not the case here"); Campbell v. Buckley, II F. Supp. 
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2d 1260 (D. Colo. 1998) (state single-subject requirement for initiatives 

did not violate First Amendment). This is true even if the election 

regulation may make some political outcomes less likely than others. 

Initiative & Referendum Inst., 450 F .3d at 1100-01. 

Nor does Fila Foods LLC v. City of SeaTac, 179 Wn. App. 401, 

403, 319 P.3d 817 (2014), cited by Petitioners, support a First Amendment 

claim. In Fila Foods, the court struck down the voiding of all signatures 

of a person signing an initiative petition more than once, rather than 

simply voiding the duplicate signatures. The Court held the rule burdened 

citizens' First Amendment right to sign once in support of an initiative. 

Here, Petitioners were not hindered from expressing support for I-107 

during signature gathering or at the ballot box. 

Likewise, Petitioners' "vote stripping" arguments do not provide a 

basis for review. Under the RCW joint ballot title procedures, all eligible 

voters are able to vote on the measures and all votes are counted equally. 

Indeed, if requiring voters to choose between an initiative and a legislative 

alternative constitutes an equal protection violation, then the Seattle 

Charter, RCW 29A.72.050, and Article II, § 1 of Washington's 

constitution are all unconstitutional-something that Petitioners did not 

allege below and cannot now argue to this Court. See Brown v. Safeway 
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Stores, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 359, 369, 617 P.2d 704 (1980) ("Issues not raised 

before the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal."). 

Finally, despite Petitioners' repeated invocation of the word 

"fundamental," the right to bring an initiative is not a fundamental right 

under the U.S. Constitution that implicates the Equal Protection Clause. 

See Save Palisade FruitLands, 279 F.3d at 1210-11 (holding law that 

provides the initiative power to some counties but not others does not 

violate the Equal Protection Clause). Nor have Petitioners argued that the 

RCW form of joint ballot title "singles out [a] discrete or insular minority 

for special treatment." Angle v. Miller, 673 F.3d 1122, 1132 (9th Cir. 

20 12) (denying equal protection challenge to rule that applied to "all 

initiatives regardless of subject matter"). Petitioners have failed to 

identify any constitutional question that would justify review. 

D. Petitioners' new constitutional claims are barred and are 
without merit. 

Petitioners argue to this Court, for the first time, that the RCW 

joint ballot title form discriminates between charter cities and all other 

cities in the state because it prevents charter cities from sending an 

initiative to the ballot for an up or down vote. Petitioners cannot raise this 

argument for the first time on appeal. Brown, 94 Wn.2d at 369. 
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Regardless, the argument makes no sense. Charter cities, unlike 

other cities, have authority to establish their own initiative processes. 

They can establish a direct initiative or not. Seattle did not. Nothing 

prevents Seattle from amending its Charter to provide for an initiative 

directly to the people. Non-charter cites do not have that right (such as 

those governed by ch. 35.17 and ch. 35A.11 RCW, both cited by 

Petitioners). Rather, state law provides the only initiative form allowed in 

non-charter cities. It is hard to see how granting greater leeway to charter 

cities is a form of discrimination. Petitioners' attempt to manufacture a 

new constitutional issue for this Court's review should be rejected. 

E. Petitioners' OPMA claim does not merit review. 

Petitioners fail to identify or articulate to this Court how the 

OPMA was violated in this case. Regardless, the OPMA argument fails to 

justify review. As permitted by RCW 42.30.11 0(1 )(i), the City Council 

held executive sessions to receive legal advice regarding 1-107's 

requirements and legal impact vis-a-vis the Preschool Plan. Supp. App. 

457, ~ 3. Petitioners point to no evidence that any policy matters were 

discussed or actions taken during these executive sessions. Nor could 

they, as no such discussions or votes were taken. ld., ~ 4. 

Even had any policy matters been discussed or actions taken 

during the executive sessions (which the City denies), the "[OPMA] does 
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not ... require that subsequent actions taken in compliance with the Act 

are also invalidated." Org. to Pres. Agric. Lands v. Adams County, 128 

Wn.2d 869, 883, 913 P.2d 793 (1996). Without deciding the question of 

whether any OPMA violation had occurred, the trial court correctly ruled 

in this case that the City Council cured any alleged violation when it heard 

extensive public testimony, debated the issue on the record, and voted to 

take actions related to 1-107 and the Preschool Plan at the June 23rd 

meeting. Eugster v. City of Spokane, 118 Wn. App. 383,423, 76 P.3d 741 

(2003), review denied, 151 Wn.2d 1027 (2004) (subsequent action at an 

open meeting cures prior potential OPMA violations). 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court and pointed out, as a 

further basis to affirm, that Petitioners' OPMA argument was moot in light 

of the fact that the RCW joint ballot title form applied. Petitioners' claim 

that the Court of Appeals thereby fundamentally altered OPMA 

jurisprudence is without merit and does not provide a ground for review. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Use of a joint ballot title for the Preschool Plan and 1-107 as 

required by the general laws does not raise a significant question of law 

under the state or federal constitutions and does not involve an issue of 

substantial public interest. Accordingly, review should be denied.